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SEALED 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 
ex rel. ROBIN WHITE 

FILED UNDER SEAL PURSUANT TO 
31 u.s.c. § 3730 

Plaintiffs, 

vs. 

ORTHOPAEDIC AND NEURO 
IMAGING, LLC 

Defendant. 

CIVIL ACTION NO. 1 3 - 11 0 9 

COMPLAINT 

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

On behalf of the United States of America pursuant to the United States False Claims 

Act, 31 U.S.C. §§ 3729 et seq. ("FCA"), Plaintiff-Relator Robin White ("Relator") files this qui 

tam Complaint for treble damages and civil money penalties against defendant Orthopaedic and 

Neuro Imaging, LLC (or "ONI"). These claims arise out of the defendant's knowing submission 

of false and fraudulent claims for payment to the United States Government as set forth below. 

In support of these claims, Relator alleges as follows: 

I. INTRODUCTION 

1. This matter arises from violations of the FCA by Orthopaedic and Neuro Imaging, 

LLC, arising from its knowing submission of false and fraudulent claims for payment to the 

Medicare program for certain diagnostic magnetic resonance imaging ("MRI") scans performed 

without direct physician supervision, in contravention of federal rules and regulations. 
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II. THE PARTIES 

A. Plaintiff-Relator 

2. Plaintiff-Relator Robin White is an individual citizen of the State of Delaware. 

Relator was employed by the defendant from September 9, 2002 until December 7, 2012 as an 

MRI technologist. Ms. White's regular duties and responsibilities included performing imaging 

tests and training other ONI employees on ONI MRI equipment. 

B. Defendant 

3. Defendant Orthopaedic and Neuro Imaging, LLC, is a private limited liability 

company organized under the laws of the State of Delaware with its principal place of business 

located at 34435 King Street Row, Suite 2, Lewes, Delaware 19958. On information and belief, 

ONI is an Independent Diagnostic Testing Facility ("IDTF") which provides diagnostic 

radiology services (e.g., magnetic resonance imaging ["MRI"]). 

4. ONI provides radiology services at four locations: 

a. 34435 King Street Row, Suite 2, Lewes, Delaware 19958 (hereinafter 
referred to as "ONI Lewes"); 

b. 1350 Middleford Road, Suite 503, Seaford, Delaware 19973 (hereinafter 
referred to as "ONI Seaford"); 

c. 26744 John J. Williams Highway, Suite 2, Millsboro, Delaware 19966 
(hereinafter referred to as "ONI Millsboro"); and, 

d. 400 Eastern Shore Drive, Suite 104, Salisbury, Maryland 21804 
(hereinafter referred to as "ONI Salisbury"). 

III. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

5. The Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this case pursuant to 31 U.S.C. 

§3732(a) and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1345. 
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6. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 3732(a) and 28 U.S.C. § 

1391(b) and (c) because the defendant transacts business in this District and/or one or more of 

the acts committed by the defendant and proscribed by 31 U.S.C. § 3729 occurred in this 

District. 

7. This Court has personal jurisdiction over the defendant under 31 U.S.C. § 3732(a) 

because defendant is located in Delaware and because defendant submitted false or fraudulent 

claims directly or indirectly to the federal government in Delaware. 

8. Relator has direct and independent knowledge on which the allegations are based, 

is an original source of this information to the United States, and has voluntarily provided the 

information to the United States before filing this action based on the information. 

9. This suit is not based on prior public disclosures of allegations or transactions in 

a criminal, civil or administrative hearing, lawsuit, investigation, audit or report, or from the 

news media. To the extent that there has been any public disclosure unknown to Relator, she is 

an original source under 31 U.S.C. § 3730(e)(4). 

IV. STATUTORY AND REGULATORY BACKGROUND 

A. Medicare 

1. Statutory and regulatory background 

10. Medicare is a federal health insurance system for people 65 and older and for 

people under 65 with certain disabilities. Medicare Part A provides hospital insurance for 

eligible individuals. See 42 U.S.C. §§ 1395c-1395i. Medicare Part B is a voluntary subscription 

program of supplementary medical insurance covering items and services other than 

hospitalization expenses. See 42 U.S.C. § 1395k(a)(2)(B). 
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2. Applicable statutes and regulations 

11. All diagnostic x-ray and other diagnostic tests - including magnetic resonance 

imaging - covered under section 1861 ( s )(3) of the Social Security Act and payable under the 

physician fee schedule must be furnished under the appropriate level of supervision by a 

physician. See 42 C.F.R. § 410.32(b)(l). 

12. Medicare provides for three levels of supervision for diagnostic x-ray and other 

imaging studies: general supervision (minimum standard); direct supervision (intermediate 

standard); and personal supervision (maximum standard). !d. § 410.32(b)(3). All diagnostic x

ray and other imaging studies must at least be furnished under at least a general level of 

physician supervision. !d. When Medicare requires direct or personal supervision, "physician 

supervision at the specified level is required throughout the performance of the test." !d. 

13. At all relevant times, Medicare has defined "direct supervision" as follows: 

"Direct supervision in the office setting means the physician must be present in the office suite 

and immediately available to furnish assistance and direction throughout the performance of the 

procedure. It does not mean that the physician must be present in the room when the procedure 

is performed." !d. § 410.32(b)(3)(ii); see generally Medicare Benefit Policy Manual, Ch. 15 § 

80. 

14. Medicare provides that services furnished without the required level of 

supervision are not reasonable and necessary. !d. § 410.32(b)(l); see 42 C.F.R. § 411.15(k)(l) 

("The following services are excluded from coverage: Any services that are not reasonable and 

necessary for one of the following purposes: (1) For the diagnosis or treatment of illness or 

injury or to improve the functioning of a malformed body member.") (emphasis in original). 

Medicare precludes payment for services that are not reasonable and necessary for the diagnosis 
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or treatment of illness or injury or to improve the functioning of a malformed body member. 42 

U.S.C. § 1395y(a)(l )(A). 

3. Magnetic Resonance Imaging ("MRI") 

15. Magnetic resonance imaging (or "MRI") is an imaging study that uses a magnetic 

field and pulses of radio wave energy to make pictures of organs and structures inside the body. 

MRI provides different information about internal organs and structures than do an x-ray, 

ultrasound, or computed tomography (or "CT") scan, thereby identifying injuries or other 

abnormalities that cannot be detected with other imaging methods. 

16. An MRI test is performed by placing the area of the body being imaged inside a 

machine that contains a strong magnet. The MRI scan produces digital images that are typically 

saved and stored on a computer for further study. The images may be reviewed at the same 

location where the study was performed or they may be transmitted electronically to a remote 

location where they can be interpreted by a radiologist; the latter practice is known as 

teleradiology. 

17. When ordered by the physician, contrast material (or dye) may be used during the 

MRI scan to show certain structures more clearly. Often the MRI exam begins with images 

taken before the dye is injected and the additional images are taken after the dye or contrast is 

administered. 

18. Common contrast material substances include iodine, barium, and gadolinium. 

Gadolinium is a paramagnetic metal ion. Paramagnetic ions move differently within a magnetic 

field. This trait makes gadolinium useful for MRI. 

19. Gadolinium-based contrast agents (or "GBCAs") may cause allergic reactions, 

ranging from mild to severe; severe allergic reactions can result in death. Some patients develop 
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skin conditions such as rash, sweating, itching, hives, and facial swelling. In addition, GBCAs 

may irritate the veins into which they are injected, causing irritation of the blood vessels and 

skin, and causing the formation of blood clots. Certain patients with acute or chronic severe 

renal insufficiency are also at risk of developing nephrogenic systemic fibrosis ("NSF") disease. 

4. MRI procedures requiring direct supervision 

20. Medicare assigns "numerical levels" to the relevant Current Procedural 

Terminology ("CPT") or Healthcare Common Procedure Coding System ("HCPCS") codes in 

the Medicare Physician Fee Schedule Database to define the level of physician supervision 

required for a given procedure. See Medicare Benefit Policy Manual, Ch. 15 § 80. Where 

Medicare assigns a numerical level of "2", the procedure "must be performed under the direct 

supervision of a physician." !d. 

21. The Medicare Physician Fee Schedule Database contains a listing of all MRI 

procedures that require the direct supervision of a physician, as indicated by the numerical level 

"2". Of those MRI procedures requiring direct supervision, ONI has performed the following: 

a. 70543: "MRI orbit/face/neck w/o & w/dye"; long description: Magnetic 
resonance (e.g., proton) imaging, orbit, face, and/or neck; without contrast 
material(s), followed by contrast material(s) and further sequences; 

b. 70549: "MR angiograph neck w/o & w/dye"; long description: Magnetic 
resonance angiography, neck; without contrast material(s), followed by 
contrast material(s) and further sequences; 

c. 70553: "MRI brain stem w/o & w/dye"; long description: Magnetic 
resonance (e.g., proton) imaging, brain (including brain stem); without 
contrast material, followed by contrast material(s) and further sequences; 

d. 71552: "MRI chest w/o & w/dye"; long description: Magnetic resonance 
(e.g., proton) imaging, chest (e.g., for evaluation of hilar and mediastinal 
lymphadenopathy); without contrast material(s), followed by contrast 
material(s) and further sequences; 
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e. 72156: "MRI neck spine w/o & w/dye"; long description: Magnetic 
resonance (e.g., proton) imaging, spinal canal and contents, without 
contrast material, followed by contrast material(s) and further sequences; 
cervical; 

f. 72158: "MRI lumbar spine w/o & w/dye"; long description: Magnetic 
resonance (e.g., proton) imaging, spinal canal and contents, without 
contrast material, followed by contrast material(s) and further sequences; 
lumbar; 

g. 72197: "MRI pelvis w/o & w/dye"; long description: Magnetic resonance 
(e.g., proton) imaging, pelvis; without contrast material(s), followed by 
contrast material(s) and further sequences; 

h. 72198: "MR angio pelvis w/o & w/dye"; long description: Magnetic 
resonance angiography, pelvis, with or without contrast material(s); 

1. 73720: "MRI lower extremity w/o & w/dye"; long description: Magnetic 
resonance (e.g., proton) imaging, lower extremity other than joint; without 
contrast material(s), followed by contrast material(s) and further 
sequences; 

J. 74183: "MRI abdomen w/o & w/dye"; long description: Magnetic 
resonance (e.g., proton) imaging, abdomen; without contrast material(s), 
followed by with contrast material(s) and further sequences; 

k. 74185: "MRI angio abdomen w or w/o dye"; long description: Magnetic 
resonance angiography, abdomen, with or without contrast material(s); 

L 77058: "MRI one breast"; long description: Magnetic resonance imaging, 
breast, without and/or with contrast material(s); unilateral; and, 

m. 77059: "MRI both breasts"; long description: Magnetic resonance 
imaging, breast, without and/or with contrast material(s); bilateraL 

22. Any MRI procedure listed above which includes the phrase "w/o & w/ dye" is one 

where images are taken both before and after the injection of dye. 

B. The United States False Claims Act 

23. The United States False Claims Act prohibits, inter alia, the following: 

knowingly presenting (or causing to be presented) to the federal 
government a false or fraudulent claim for payment or approval; 
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knowingly making or using (or causing to be made or used) a false 
record or statement material to a false or fraudulent claim; and 

knowingly concealing or knowingly and improperly avoiding or 
decreasing an obligation to pay or transmit money to the 
Government. 

31 U.S.C. §§ 3729(a)(1 )(A), (B) and (G). 

V. DEFENDANT'S WRONGFUL CONDUCT 

24. As set forth in detail below, ONI has submitted claims to Medicare for MRI tests 

performed without direct physician supervision, in contravention of the federal regulations and 

statutes outlined above. 

A. False and fraudulent submissions for reimbursement 

1. ONI Lewes 

25. As stated above, Relator worked as an MRI technologist for ONI from September 

9, 2002 until December 7, 2012. Relator primarily worked at ONI Lewes. Prior to April 2012, 

Relator and other ONI technologists regularly performed MRI tests on Medicare beneficiaries, 

including MRI tests performed using contrast agents. 

26. During this more than ten year period, no physician was ever present in ONI 

Lewes' suite to provide direct supervision of the MRI tests (except as set forth below). 

27. By way of example, in March 2007, the following Medicare beneficiaries 

underwent MRI tests without direct physician supervision as required by Medicare: 

a. Patient 1 received an MRI with contrast (CPT code 70553) on Friday, 
March 2, 2007; 

b. Patient 2 received an MRI with contrast (CPT code 70553)on Friday, 
March 2, 2007; 

c. Patient 3 received an MRI with contrast (CPT code 72158) on Friday, 
March 9, 2007; 
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d. Patient 4 received an MRI with contrast (CPT code 70553)on Monday 
March 12, 2007; 

e. Patient 5 received an MRI with contrast (CPT code 70553) on Tuesday, 
March 13, 2007; 

f. Patient 6 received an MRI with contrast (CPT code 70553) on Thursday, 
March 15, 2007; 

g. Patient 7 received an MRI with contrast (CPT codes 70549 and 70553) on 
Thursday, March 15, 2007; 

h. Patient 8 received an MRI with contrast (CPT code 70549) on Friday, 
March 16, 2007; 

1. Patient 9 received an MRI with contrast (CPT codes 70549 and 70553) on 
Friday, March 16, 2007; 

J. Patient 10 received an MRI with contrast (CPT code 70553) on Friday, 
March 16, 2007; received an MRI with contrast (CPT code 70549) on 
Wednesday, March 21, 2007; 

k. Patient 11 received an MRI with contrast on Monday, March 19, 2007; 

1. Patient 12 received an MRI with contrast (CPT code 70553) on Tuesday, 
March 20, 2007; 

m. Patient 13 received an MRI with contrast (CPT code 70553) on Thursday, 
March 22, 2007; 

n. Patient 14 received an MRI with contrast (CPT code 72156) on Friday, 
March 23, 2007; 

o. Patient 15 received an MRI with contrast on Monday, March 26, 2007; 

p. Patient 16 received an MRI with contrast (CPT code 70549) on 
Wednesday, March 28, 2007; and, 

q. Patient 17 received an MRI with contrast (CPT code 70553) on Thursday, 
March 29,2007. 
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28. Relator was present for the MRI tests performed on each of these beneficiaries 

(except Patient 4 on March 12, 2007), and Relator personally observed that no physician was 

present in the ONI Lewes suite to provide direct supervision. 

29. ONI and its founder and president, Richard Pfarr, were aware of the requirement 

that MRI procedures with contrast be performed under direct supervision. ONI made no attempt 

to comply with the requirement until approximately April 2012. 

30. In approximately April 2012, Pfarr told realtor that a radiologist, R. Craig 

Platenberg, M.D. ("Dr. Platenberg"), would commute from Virginia on Thursdays to ONI Lewes 

to provide direct supervision of Medicare beneficiaries undergoing MRI with contrast; spend 

Thursday night at his (Pfarr's) home; and travel from his (Pfarr's) home to ONI Seaford to 

provide direct supervision of Medicare beneficiaries undergoing MRI with contrast. 

31. Between April 2012 and July 2012, Dr. Platenberg drove from McLean, Virginia 

to ONI Lewes on Thursdays to supervise Medicare beneficiaries undergoing MRI with contrast. 

During this three-month period, Medicare beneficiaries receiving MRI with contrast at ONI 

Lewes were scheduled to have the studies completed on Thursdays. ONI Lewes staff 

colloquially referred to these days as "Gad Thursdays," in reference to the gadolinium-based 

contrast agents used to inject the patients. 

32. Between April 2012 and July 2012, Dr. Platenberg spent Thursday nights in 

Delaware and supervised Medicare beneficiaries undergoing MRI with contrast on Fridays at 

ONI Seaford. During this three-month period, Medicare beneficiaries undergoing MRI with 

contrast at ONI Seaford were scheduled for Fridays. 

33. In approximately July 2012, Dr. Platenberg stopped coming to ONI Lewes and 

ONI Seaford to supervise MRI procedures. 
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34. In approximately July 2012, Pfarr verbally told Relator that, going forward, a 

physician ("Physician DS") in an unconnected suite in the same office complex as ONI Lewes 

would provide direct supervision of Medicare beneficiaries undergoing MRI with contrast. At 

this time, Pfarr directed that MRI procedures for Medicare beneficiaries be scheduled on 

Wednesdays, the day Pfarr believed that Physician DS would be in his office in the unconnected 

office suite. 

35. At no time before or after July 2012 did Relator observe Physician DS in ONI 

Lewes' suite to provide direct supervision of Medicare beneficiaries receiving MRI with 

contrast. 

36. Moreover, in approximately August 2012, Relator was informed by a coworker 

that Physician DS had cancelled her husband's Wednesday appointment because Physician DS 

was not in his office. At no point had Physician DS or Physician DS 's office contacted or 

otherwise directed ONI Lewes staff not to perform MRI with contrast as he (Physician DS) 

would not be on hand to provide direct supervision. 

37. After July 2012, no physician was present in ONI Lewes' suite to provide direct 

supervision of Medicare beneficiaries undergoing MRI with contrast. 

2. ONI Seaford and ONI Millsboro 

38. In addition to working at ONI Lewes, Relator occasionally performed MRI tests 

at ONI Seaford from 2004 to 2007. Relator also occasionally performed MRI at ONI Millsboro 

from 2008 to 2012. At no time did Relator observe a physician present in the ONI Seaford or 

ONI Millsboro suites on hand to provide direct supervision. 
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3. ONI Salisbury 

39. ONI Salisbury opened in or about August 2012. On information and belief, no 

physician has been present in the ONI Salisbury suite to provide direct supervision. 

B. False Claims and the Government's Damages 

40. At all relevant times, ONI has had numerous patients who are beneficiaries of the 

Medicare program described above. 

41. At all relevant times, ONI sought and received payment from Medicare for 

patients receiving magnetic resonance imaging services at its ONI Lewes, ONI Seaford, ONI 

Millsboro, and ONI Salisbury locations. 

42. ONI knowingly and willfully billed Medicare, and further knowingly and 

willfully failed to reimburse Medicare, for magnetic resonance imaging services that did not 

meet Medicare's requirements. 

43. At all relevant times, ONI knowingly concealed and continues to conceal its 

obligation to pay or transmit money to CMS. 

44. The United States, through its carriers and intermediaries, has made payments to 

ONI and has been damaged in an amount to be determined. The United States is entitled to 

treble its actual damages and to civil penalties in the amount of$5,500 to $11,000 for each ofthe 

false claims submitted. 

COUNT I 

(VIOLATION OF THE FALSE CLAIMS ACT- 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(l)(A)) 

45. Relator incorporates by reference andre-alleges all paragraphs ofthis Complaint 

set forth above as if fully set forth herein. 
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46. Defendant knowingly presented, or caused to be presented, and continues to 

present or cause to be presented, false and fraudulent claims for payment or approval to the 

United States- i.e., the foregoing false and fraudulent claims for payments from Medicare- in 

violation of31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(l)(A). 

47. Said false and fraudulent claims were presented with defendant's actual 

knowledge of their falsity, or with reckless disregard or deliberate ignorance of whether or not 

they were false. 

48. The United States relied on these false and fraudulent claims, was ignorant of the 

truth regarding these claims, and would not have paid defendant for these false and fraudulent 

claims had it known the falsity of said claims by defendant. 

49. As a direct and proximate result of the false and fraudulent claims made by 

defendant, the United States has suffered damages and therefore is entitled to recovery as 

provided by the False Claims Act in an amount to be determined at trial, plus a civil penalty of 

$5,500 to $11,000 for each such violation of the False Claims Act. 

COUNT II 

(VIOLATION OF THE FALSE CLAIMS ACT- 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(l)(B)) 

50. Relator incorporates by reference andre-alleges all paragraphs of this Complaint 

set forth above as if fully set forth herein. 

51. Defendant knowingly made, used or caused to be made or used, and continues to 

make, use and cause to be made or used, false records or false statements material to the 

foregoing false or fraudulent claims to get these false or fraudulent claims paid and approved by 

the United States, in violation of31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(l)(B). 
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52. Defendant's knowingly false records or false statements were material, and upon 

information and belief continue to be material, to the false and fraudulent claims for payments it 

made and continues to make to the United States. 

53. Defendant's materially false records or false statements are set forth above and 

include, but are not limited to false claims and/or bills for payment that explicitly and/or 

impliedly attested that defendant complied with Medicare's requirements for diagnostic magnetic 

resonance imaging and other imaging studies. 

54. These said false records or false statements were made, used or caused to be made 

or used, and continue to be made, used and caused to be made and used, with defendant's actual 

knowledge of their falsity, or with reckless disregard or deliberate ignorance of whether or not 

they were false. 

55. As a direct and proximate result of these materially false records or false 

statements, and the related false or fraudulent claims made by defendant, the United States has 

suffered damages and therefore is entitled to recovery as provided by the False Claims Act in an 

amount to be determined at trial, plus a civil penalty of$5,500 to $11,000 for each such violation 

of the False Claims Act. 

COUNT III 

(VIOLATION OF THE FALSE CLAIMS ACT- 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(l)(G)) 

56. Relator incorporates by reference and re-alleges all paragraphs of this Complaint 

set forth above as if fully set forth herein. 

57. Upon information and belief, defendant knowingly made, used or caused to be 

made or used, and continues to knowingly make, use or cause to be made or used, false records 

or false statements, material to an obligation to pay or transmit money or property to the United 
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States Government, or knowingly concealed and continues to conceal an obligation to pay or 

transmit money or property to the United States Government, or knowingly and improperly 

avoided or decreased, and continues to knowingly and improperly avoid and decrease, an 

obligation to pay or transmit money or property to the United States Government, in violation of 

31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(l )(G). 

58. As a direct and proximate result of the above conduct by defendant, the United 

States has suffered damages and therefore is entitled to recovery as provided by the False Claims 

Act of an amount to be determined at trial, plus a civil penalty of $5,500 to $11,000 for each 

violation of the False Claims Act. 

CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Relator requests that judgment be entered against defendant Orthopaedic 

and Neuro Imaging, LLC for treble the amount of the United States' damages to be determined 

at trial, and all allowable civil 
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penalties, fees, interest and costs under the False Claims Act and for all other and further relief as 

the Court may deem just and equitable. 

Dated: Wilmington, Delaware 
June 21, 2013 

BY: 

Respectfully submitted, 

SHELSBY & LEONI, P A 

G/~ . 
ROBER~,ES~ 
221 Main Street 
Wilmington, Delaware 19804 
(302) 995-6210 
rleoni@mslde.com 

KLINE & SPECTER 
BY: SHANIN SPECTER, ESQUIRE* 

DAVID J. CAPUTO, ESQUIRE* 
DAVID C. WILLIAMS, ESQUIRE* 
1525 Locust Street, Nineteenth Floor 
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19102 
(215) 772-1000 
Shanin. Specter@klinespecter .com 
David. Caputo@klinespecter .com 
David. Williams@klinespecter .com 

* Not Admitted in Delaware 
Attorneys.for the Plaintiff-Relator 

JOSEPH TRAUTWEIN & ASSOCIATES, LLC 
BY: JOSEPH TRAUTWEIN, ESQUIRE* 

1 7 Auchy Road 
Erdenheim, Pennsylvania 19038 
(215) 764-2301 
jtrautwein@cpmiteam.com 

* Not Admitted in Delaware 
Attorney for the Plaintiff-Relator 

16 

Case 1:13-cv-01109-RGA   Document 2   Filed 06/21/13   Page 16 of 16 PageID #: 18



Case 1:13-cv-01109-RGA   Document 2-1   Filed 06/21/13   Page 1 of 2 PageID #: 19



Case 1:13-cv-01109-RGA   Document 2-1   Filed 06/21/13   Page 2 of 2 PageID #: 20


